IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-_____

Third District Case No. 3D05-1628

CITIZENS FOR OPEN
GOVERNMENT, INC.

Petitioner,

vs.

CITIZENS FOR REFORM, MIAMI-
DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA,
SOUTH FLORIDA AFL-CIO, AND
TRANSPORT WORKERS UNION
OF AMERICA, LOCAL 291, AFL-
CIO,

Respondents.

**JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER,
CITIZENS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT, INC.**

**On Petition For Review Of A Decision Of The
District Court Of Appeal, Third District,
State of Florida**

Stephen M. Cody, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 334685
STEPHEN CODY, P.A.
800 Douglas Road, Suite 850
Coral Gables, FL 33134
Telephone (305) 648-9620
Facsimile (305) 648-9622

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Dade County Home Rule Amendment provides, in part:

Dade County, home rule charter. - (1) The electors of Dade County, Florida, are granted power to adopt, revise, and amend from time to time a home rule charter of government for Dade County, Florida, *under which the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County shall be the governing body. ...*

Dade County Home Rule Amendment (emphasis supplied). Pursuant to that Amendment, the voters of Dade County adopted a Home Rule Charter in 1957.

On April 5, 2005, the Miami-Dade County Commission approved a petition as to form submitted by Respondent Citizens for Reform which sought a referendum on a proposed amendment to the Miami-Dade County Charter. The proposed amendment would alter section 1.01 of the Charter as follows:

A. The Board of County Commissioners shall be the legislative ~~and the governing~~ body of the county ~~and shall also have~~ certain additional powers including the power to carry on a central metropolitan government.

¹ Hereinafter referred to as “CFOG”. The remaining Appellees will be referred to by name (i.e. “Miami-Dade County”, “South Florida AFL-CIO”, and “Transport Workers Union”).

~~This power shall include but shall not be restricted to the~~
power to: ...²

The proposed amendment would also alter section 1.08, add a new Article 2, and renumber subsequent articles and sections of the Charter. It would also make changes to present sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.03, 3.04, 3.05, 4.01, 4.02, 4.03, 4.05, and 4.06. The effect of the proposed amendment would be to transfer powers from the County Commission and the appointed County Manager to the County Mayor, grant the Mayor, among other things, the power to issue regulations and appoint members of boards and committees, as well as department heads. The existing prohibition against the Mayor seeking the hiring and firing of County employees would be lifted.

On June 5, 2005, CFR turned in the signed petitions. On June 10, 2005, Petitioner Citizens for Open Government, Inc. filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and a Motion for Temporary Injunction, naming both CFR and Miami-Dade County as party defendants. CFOG sought relief on the basis that the proposed amendment violated the requirements of the Florida Constitution and Florida Statutes, that the ballot summary authored by CFR violated the requirements of section 101.161, Florida Statutes, and that CFR failed to have the petitions properly notarized in accordance with the requirements of the Miami-

² Within the proposed amendment, language that was being removed from the Charter was shown as struck through, while new language was shown as

Dade County Charter and Florida Statutes. The South Florida AFL-CIO and the Transport Workers Union were granted leave to intervene as party plaintiffs.

On July 23, 2005, Circuit Court Judge Michael A. Genden held an evidentiary hearing on the motion for temporary injunction. On August 10, 2005, Judge Genden entered the Order Granting Motions to Intervene or Appear as Additional Plaintiffs and Granting Motion for Preliminary Injunction. A1-161. Judge Genden found that the proposed ballot language met the requirements of section 101.161 and that the notarization of the petition met the requirements of law. However, the August 10th Order found that the proposed amendment violated the requirements of the Florida Constitution. Specifically, the trial court held:

Among the requirements mandated by the Florida Constitution is that the Board of County Commissioners must be the County's "governing body". All parties agree that a charter amendment that removes the County Commission as the governing body is unconstitutional and unauthorized. Yet, the charter amendment does just that, by its very language, limiting the Board of County Commissioners to the status of a "legislative body", and taking away the governing body authority. That repeal is explicit and central to the amendment, and cannot be ignored by this Court.

Subsequently, CFR moved for entry of a final judgment and on August 18, 2005, Judge Genden granted the motion and entered the final judgment.

On September 2, 2005, CFR filed a notice of appeal of the Final Judgment in

underlined.

this action. On September 8, 2005, CFOG filed its Notice of Cross-Appeal.

On May 31, 2006, the Third District entered its opinion, reversing the judgment entered by the trial court. *Citizens for Reform, Inc. v. Citizens for Open Government, Inc.*, --- So.2d ----, 2006 WL 1479788, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D1512 (Fla. 3d DCA May 31, 2006). On June 23, 2006 the Third District denied the motions filed by Petitioner and Miami-Dade County for rehearing, rehearing *en banc* or, alternatively, for certification.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Third District pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1968), because the decision expressly construes Article VIII, section 11, Fla. Const. (1885), carried forward in Article VIII, section 6, Fla. Const. (1968). Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii), the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction to invoke discretionary review of the decision in this matter.

ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY CONSTRUES A PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

The decision below expressly construes Article VIII, Section 11, Fla. Const. (1885), carried forward in Article VIII, Section 6, Fla. Const. (1968) of the Florida Constitution. Appendix at 4. In the opinion, the Third District explicitly held:

The issue presented on appeal is whether the proposed amendment to the Charter effectively removes the Miami-Dade County Commission as the “governing body.” If it does, the proposed amendment is unconstitutional as no provision of the Charter may conflict with the Florida Constitution or general Florida law. *See Cook v. City of Jacksonville*, 823 So.2d 86 (Fla. 2002); *Ellis v. Burk*, 866 So.2d 1236 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). If the proposed amendment does not remove the County Commission as the “governing body,” the amendment would survive this particular constitutional challenge.

Appendix at 5. Because the decision construes the Dade County Home Rule Amendment, the Court has discretion to grant review. *See* Article V, Section 3(3), Fla. Const (1968).

The Third District’s decision runs counter to this Court’s opinion in *Metro-Dade Fire Rescue District v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 616 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1993). In *Fire Rescue District*, the Supreme Court considered a case wherein the voters of Dade County adopted an amendment to the Miami-Dade County Charter which provided:

Section 1.01. POWERS.

A. The Board of County Commissioners shall be the legislative and the governing body of the county and shall have the power to carry on a central metropolitan government. This power shall include but shall not be restricted to the power to:

11. By ordinance, establish, merge, and abolish special purpose districts within which may be provided police and fire protection.... *[P]rovided, however, the Board of*

County Commissioners shall not be the governing body of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District established by Ordinance No. 80-86, but said Fire and Rescue Service District shall be governed by five members elected for initial terms of two years by the registered voters of the Metro-Dade Fire and Rescue Service District.

Dade County Charter, section 1.01(A)(11), September 1986, (emphasis added).

616 So.2d at 968 n.3 (emphasis in original). The effect of the amendment was to remove the County Commission as the “governing body” of the Fire Rescue District, a special taxing district. This Court’s holding is as follows:

In determining the intent of the 1986 amendment, we agree with the dissent below that it is the court’s function to interpret the Charter’s phrase, “governing body.” The court can determine the meaning of “governing body” from its plain language as well as the actions of the Commission, which served as the governing body of the district from 1980 to 1986. As the dissent below states:

The term “governing body” is a generic term which has long been in the Charter. *Id.* § 1.01(A)(11). *The Charter applies that term to all special purpose districts, and not uniquely to the Fire and Rescue Service District. Id.* The Charter does not itself contain a definition of the term, and the trial court correctly ruled that the term “governing body” must be given its usual and obvious meaning. *See City of Jacksonville v. Glidden Co.*, 124 Fla. 690, 169 So. 216, 217 (1936); *Seaboard System R.R., Inc. v. Clemente*, 467 So.2d 348, 355 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

Under a standard definition, the “[g]overning body of [an] institution, organization or territory means that body which has ultimate power to determine

its policies and control its activities.” Black’s Law Dictionary 625 (5th ed. 1979) (citation omitted). Similarly, “govern” means “to direct and control, rule, or regulate, by authority.” *Id.*

Metropolitan Dade County, 589 So.2d at 928 (Cope, J., dissenting). Further, while the record is not clear exactly what duties and activities the Commission exercised as the District’s governing body between 1980 and 1986, it is certain that the Commission did not act as an advisory entity making recommendations to another body concerning the final policy of the District. *Thus, we construe the term “governing body” to mean that the voters intended that the Fire Board have the last word concerning policies and control over the District.*

616 So.2d at 969 (emphasis added). Applying the test laid out in *Fire Rescue District* to the instant case, it is clear that the Third District’s interpretation of the word “governing” differs from the requirements of Home Rule Amendment to the Florida Constitution.

It is not enough to say that strong executive mayors exist in other governments. The question that must be answered is whether, under the framework of the Home Rule Amendment, a second center of governing power can be created. In this case, by transferring the Commission’s authority to the County Mayor, and by expressly stripping the Commission of its status as the “governing body” of the County, the answer must surely be that the proposed amendment runs afoul of the requirements of the Florida Constitution.

The voters of the State of Florida did not grant the voters of Dade County wide and limitless discretion with regard to the role of the County Commission as the governing body of the County. In fact, there is no mention of a Mayor, strong, weak or otherwise in the Dade County Home Rule Amendment. Under the Dade County Home Rule Amendment, the Charter *must* have a County Commission which is the governing, rather than just the legislative, body of the County. Applying this Court’s holding in *Fire Rescue District* here means that the voters of Florida intended that the County Commission have the last word concerning *policies and control* over the County. The proposed amendment disrupts the County Commission’s ability to “have the last word”.

This Court should grant review and decide whether removing the County Commission as the explicit “governing body” of the County, together with the power to oversee the appointed County Manager, the officer who operated the County government on a day-to-day basis, takes away the Commission’s constitutionally mandated role as the “governing body” of Miami-Dade County.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The Court should grant review because this Court, in *Florida Commission On Ethics v. Plante*, 369 So.2d 332, 336 (Fla. 1979) held that “It is this court's duty to construe provisions of the constitution. *Alsdorf v. Broward County*, 333 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1976).”

The Third District's construction of Article VIII, Section 11, Fla. Const. (1885), carried forward in Article VIII, Section 6, Fla. Const. (1968) and its misreading *Metro-Dade Fire Rescue District v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 616 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1993), are reasons enough to grant review.

CONCLUSION

This Court has discretion to grant review. Based upon the foregoing argument and authority cited, review should be granted.