IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1344

CITIZENS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITIZENS FOR REFORM,

Respondent.

**CITIZENS FOR REFORM'S RESPONSE
IN OPPOSITION TO CITIZENS FOR
OPEN
GOVERNMENT, INC.'S
JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF**

ROBERT
JOSEFSBERG
STEPHEN
ROSENTHAL
PODHURST
ORSECK, P.A.
25 West Flagler St.
Miami, FL 33130-1712
Ph: (305) 358-2800

C. BRUCE S. ROGOW
F. BRUCE S. ROGOW,
P.A.
Broward Financial
Centre, Ste. 1930
500 East Broward
Blvd.
Fort Lauderdale, FL
33394
(954) 767-8909

Counsel for Citizens for

Reform

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent, Citizens for Reform, accepts the non-argumentative portions of the Statement of the Case and Facts in the Jurisdictional Briefs of Miami-Dade County and Citizens for Open Government, Inc.¹ Simply put, Citizens for Reform submitted a proposal to amend the Miami-Dade County Charter; the Board of County Commissioners approved it as to form; a sufficient number of signatures were obtained to cause an election; opposition groups (Citizens for Open Government and a South Florida AFL-CIO and Transport Workers

¹ Both Miami-Dade County (Case No. SC06-1345) and Citizens for Open Government (Case No. SC06-1344) have docketed jurisdictional briefs seeking review of the same decision of the Third District Court of Appeal. We are submitting the same opposition to jurisdiction brief in each separately numbered case so that the Clerk can have a complete file with regard to each numbered case. For that reason we address the arguments of both petitioners in this Brief, changing only the cover page to reflect the respective cases.

Union) sued to enjoin the election process; the circuit court granted the injunction; and the District Court of Appeal reversed, allowing the election to be considered by the voters. The District Court denied rehearing, *en banc* review and certification and denied requests to stay the mandate.

The County took no position on the merits during the circuit court trial or the District Court of Appeal briefing and oral argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court of Appeal because the District Court of Appeal did not expressly construe any provision of the Florida Constitution. The Petitioners assert jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, claiming that the decision below expressly construes Article VIII, section 6(e) which states that the Board of County Commissioners

“shall be the governing body” of Miami-Dade County.

Petitioners are incorrect. There was no need to construe the Constitution because all parties and the court recognized that under the Constitution the Board of County Commissioners is the governing body of Miami-Dade County. The only question before the court below was whether the proposed Charter Amendment was inconsistent with the Board being the governing body. The only “construction” that occurred was construction of the proposed amendment and the Charter. None of the cases offered by the Petitioners supports the notion that in this case there was an express construction of the Constitution. Therefore there is no jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3).

ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE CONSTITUTION WAS NOT EXPRESSLY CONSTRUED

Judge Padovano has written:

A decision of a district court of appeal is not reviewable under Article V, section 3(b)(3) merely because it has the practical effect of construing a provision of the state or federal constitution. Section 3(b)(3) plainly requires a written, statement explaining or defining the disputed constitutional language.

Many district court of appeal decisions involve an application of state or federal constitutional principles to the facts of the case. A mere application of constitutional principles, however, does not amount to a construction of the provision involved. Therefore a decision that turns on factual applicability does not furnish a basis to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court under section 3(b)(3).

P. Padovano, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE, § 3.8 at 62-63 (2006) (footnotes omitted).

The decision below fits that description. There was no dispute about the meaning of, or language of, the Florida constitutional provision – Article VIII,

section 6(e). Everyone agreed that it requires the Board of County Commissioners to be the governing body of the County:

The electors of Dade County, Florida are granted power to adopt, revise, and amend from time to time a home rule charter of government for Dade County, Florida under which the Board of County Commissioners of Dade County shall be the governing body.

Article VIII, § 6(e), Fla. Const. Thus, the only question for the court was the application of that principle to the facts, i.e., the effect of the proposed amendment.

The court succinctly stated the issue:

The issue presented on appeal is whether the proposed amendment to the Charter effectively removes the Miami-Dade County Commission as the “governing body.” If it does, the proposed amendment is unconstitutional as no provision of the Charter may conflict with the Florida Constitution or general Florida law. *See Cook v. City of Jacksonville*, 823 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 2002); *Ellis v. Burk*, 866 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004). If the proposed amendment does not remove the County Commission as the “governing body,” the amendment would survive this particular constitutional challenge.

App., p. 5. The court *was not saying* it is a constitution it was construing; rather it was a Charter, and a proposed amendment to the Charter, that it was construing.

Miami-Dade County and Citizens for Open Government seek to avoid the plain import of the decision’s analysis by contending that the mention of the constitutional provision equates with express construction of the constitution and supports jurisdiction.

Neither the case law, commentators or the constitution support their position. The County offers *Ocala v. Nye*, 608 So. 2d 15, 16 (Fla. 1992), *County of Dade v. Saffan*, 173 So. 2d 138, 139 (Fla. 1965) and *Board of County Commissioners v. Boswell*, 167 So. 2d 866, 867 (Fla. 1964) to support jurisdiction. But none of those cases has application here. In *Boswell* the Court found that the decision below “effectively defined the meaning and effect of the constitutional proscription. . . .” 167 So. 2d at 867. In *Saffan*, the district court of appeal had expressly construed the constitution, addressing the interplay between Article V, § 6(e), the Dade County Charter adopted pursuant to Article VIII, § 11, Florida Statutes and Florida Appellate Rules. *Saffan v. County of Dade*, 159 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964). Justice Ervin’s special concurrence in this Court – “I agree with the opinion of Justice O’Connell, but add that I think section 11(1)(f), Art. VIII and pertinent provisions of Art. V of the Constitution should be read together” – helps to demonstrate that *Saffan* was an express construction case, unlike the instant case.

The County's other case – *Ocala v. Nye* – also exemplifies express construction. The district court of appeal had to construe a municipality's home rule powers under Article VIII, section 2(b) to utilize eminent domain in light of constitutional (Article X, section 6) and various statutory provisions. *Nye v. City of Ocala*, 559 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). This Court quashed the district court opinion, explaining that “Article VIII, section 2, Florida Constitution, expressly grants to every municipality the authority to conduct municipal government. . . .” including the eminent domain use it sought. *Ocala v. Nye*, 608 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1992).

Citizens for Open Government's offerings – *Florida Commission on Ethics v. Plante*, 369 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1979) and *Alsdorf v. Broward County*, 333 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1976) – miss the jurisdictional mark too. *Plante* required the express construction of the meaning of the Sunshine Amendment – Article II, section 8 of the Constitution. In *Alsdorf*, the lower court expressly construed Article VIII, section 1(h) of the Constitution, finding that the article ““is too vague by itself to be workable. There are no standards, no guidelines by which to aide the municipalities and counties in their attempt to work within the Constitutional provision.”” *Alsdorf*, 333 So. 2d at 457. That is express construction.

The finding below in this case – that it “is the unassailable fact that not one

single power of the County Commission, as provided in Article I of the Charter, is altered in any way by the proposed amendment. Under the proposed amendment, the County Commission retains all of the powers afforded to it under Article 1" (App., p. 13) – is not a construction of the Constitution. Whether the words “governing body” appear in the Charter is not decisive (*id.*); whether the Board governs is the question, a question that was answered by looking at the Charter and the proposed amendment, not the Constitution.

Citizens for Open Government confuses jurisdiction with ultimate merits when it argues that the Third District’s decision “runs counter” to *Metro-Dade Fire Rescue District v. Metropolitan Dade County*, 616 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1993). First, neither the County or Citizens for Open Government can claim jurisdiction using *Fire Rescue* because it came to this Court as an *en banc* certified question of great public importance. 616 So. 2d at 967. Second, the decision below was not discordant with *Fire Rescue* because it honored the County Commission’s right to govern.

* * *

The County, assuming jurisdiction exists, also argues that its “exercise” is necessary. Jurisdictional Brief of Petitioner Miami-Dade County, p. 6. The County’s *raison d’etre* is that if the voters approve the proposed Charter

amendment giving a strong mayor administrative power “such a drastic shift in power would likely have a significant effect on the County’s approximately 2.4 million residents.” *Id.*

Aside from the speculation (“if approved”; “would likely”), the County (which took no position on the merits of the proposal in the circuit court trial or the appellate court briefing and argument) has forgotten an important part of the Charter and the Constitution. The Charter provides for citizen initiatives and referenda (Article 7) and the Constitution grants the electors of the County the “power to adopt, revise and amend from time to time a home rule charter of government for Dade County. . . .” Article VIII, section 6(e). So if the proposed amendment passes, the “significant effect” would be the will of the voters; a will which the County must honor.

The County’s listing of cases in which the Court reviewed Third District decisions “that construed the County’s home rule powers” (County Jurisdictional Brief, pp. 6-7) provides no authority for exercising jurisdiction in this case. *Board of County Commissioners v. Wilson*, 386 So. 2d 556 (Fla. 1980) was a certified question of great public importance (*id.* at 558), as was *Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494, 496 (Fla. 1999). *Laborers’*

International Union of North America, Local 478 v. Burroughs, 541 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 1989) was an express constitutional construction case (*id.* at 1161) as was *Metropolitan Dade County v. City of Miami*, 396 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1981) (“The trial judge based his ruling on a declaration that Article VIII, section 4, Florida Constitution prevails over Article VIII, section 6(e), Florida Constitution.”) (footnotes omitted).

The end result is that there is no support for the exercise of this Court’s jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

There is no jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. The Court should enter an Order denying jurisdiction.